THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM Horry County
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

JUN 22 2018

The Honorable Cynthia Graham Howe
Master-in-Equity, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit **SC Court of Appeals**

Case No.: 2009-CP-26-620
Appellate Case No.: 2016-001075

Ellis E. Smith, individually and on behalf of A&E Constructors and Consultants, Inc., a South Carolina Corporation Plaintiffs,

vs.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The master-in-equity erred in holding the Other Appellants liable for the judgment against Vereen on an amalgamation theory.
- II. The master-in-equity erred in awarding prejudgment interest to Smith, as he did not seek a sum certain.
- III. The master-in-equity erred in failing to order an accounting and in relying on the Brady compilation.
- IV. The master-in-equity erred in failing to consider the unclean hands of Smith.
- V. The master-in-equity erred in holding Smith and Vereen to a double standard.
- VI. The master-in-equity erred in ending her analysis in 2007, as the Company continued to operate after 2007.
- VII. The master-in-equity erred in awarding punitive damages.

STATEMENT OF CASE

This case arises out of a shareholder dispute between Ellis R. Smith (“Smith”) and Arthur Wayne Vereen (“Vereen”). Smith and Vereen were the two sole shareholders of a construction company known as A&E Constructors and Consultants, Inc. (“the Company”). Smith served as President and Chairman of the Company, while Vereen served as Secretary/Treasurer. **(August 2011 Transcript, Vereen p. 579; Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 137).**

The Company was formed in October 2003 and became operational on January 1, 2004. **(Oct. 2011 Transcript, Smith p. 65; August 2011 Transcript, Vereen p. 203, p. 296; Plaintiff’s Exhibit #8, #10).** Smith stopped working for the Company in 2007 and formed his own competing construction company, E. Smith and Sons Construction, LLC (“E. Smith and Sons”).¹ **(August 2011 Transcript, Vereen p. 600; Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 52, p. 165).** In September 2007, Smith began competing against the Company by working on jobs for E. Smith and Sons. **(Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 52, pp. 156-58).** All the while, Smith remained a shareholder of the Company and continued receiving a salary from the Company. **(Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 156-58, p. 167; August 2011 Transcript, Vereen pp. 559-600).**

Shortly after forming E. Smith and Sons, Smith sent two demand letters to Vereen in the latter part of 2007. **(August 2012 Transcript, Vereen p. 301, p. 513, p. 516; Plaintiff’s Exhibit #9: First & Second Demand Letters).** In the first demand letter, Smith alleged Vereen owed the Company \$400,006.67, and in the second demand letter, Smith alleged Vereen owed the Company \$1,731,580.40. **(Plaintiff’s Exhibit #9: First & Second Demand Letters).**

¹ Smith claimed he stopped working for the Company in mid-September 2007; Vereen contends it was in June 2007. **(August 2011 Transcript, Vereen p. 300; Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 52).**

On January 23, 2009, Smith filed this lawsuit against Vereen in the Horry County Court of Common Pleas. (**Complaint**). Smith styled the lawsuit as a derivative action against Vereen, commenced on behalf of himself and the Company. (**Complaint**). In addition to Vereen, Smith named other parties as defendants as well. Smith named Vereen's wife, Linda C. Vereen, Park Place Properties of Myrtle Beach, LLC ("Park Place"), Parkway Offices, LLC ("Parkway"), and Arthur Vereen Construction, Inc. ("AVC") as defendants.² (**Complaint**).

On July 23, 2009, the Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr. signed an Order of Reference, referring this case to the master-in-equity for Horry County, where it was heard by the Honorable Cynthia Graham Howe. (**First Order, p. 2**). This case was tried in nine (9) days, over the course of eighteen (18) months, with the trial beginning on February 15 and 16, 2011, continuing on June 13 through June 15, 2011, continuing again on October 11 through October 13, 2011, and concluding on August 27 through August 30, 2012. (**Order Disposing of Post-Trial Motions, p. 3**). The master-in-equity did not issue a written order until two and one-half years after the last day of trial. (**First Order; Order Disposing of Post-Trial Motions, pp. 3-4**).

On March 23, 2015, the master-in-equity issued a forty-two (42) page order, granting judgment against the Appellants in the amount of \$2,968,790.68. (**First Order**). The master-in-equity entered the judgment against Vereen individually, as well as against Park Place, Parkway Offices, AVC, Linda C. Vereen, the Arthur W. Vereen Residence Trust, Linda C. Vereen Residence Trust, and 29th Place Developers, Inc. (collectively "Other Appellants"). (**First**

² The master-in-equity apparently allowed Smith to add 29th Place Developers, Inc., Arthur W. Vereen, as Trustee of the Arthur W. Vereen Residence Trust, and Linda C. Vereen, as Trustee of the Linda C. Vereen Residence Trust. (**First Order**).

Order). The master-in-equity held the Other Appellants liable for the judgment against Vereen under veil piercing and alter ego theories.³ (**First Order p. 37**).

The next day, March 24, 2015, the master-in-equity issued a one-page *Nunc Pro Tunc* Order, which recalculated prejudgment interest and added Parkway's name to the Form 4 Order. (**Order Disposing of Post-Trial Motions, p. 4; Nunc Pro Tunc Order**). Otherwise, the *Nunc Pro Tunc* Order did not alter the First Order. (**Order Disposing of Post-Trial Motions, p. 4; Nunc Pro Tunc Order**). With the recalculation of prejudgment interest, the *Nunc Pro Tunc* Order increased the judgment total to \$4,226,383.90 against Vereen and the Other Appellants. (**Nunc Pro Tunc Order**).

Appellants filed a Motion for Reconsideration. (**Appellants' Motion to Reconsider Order**). In the Motion for Reconsideration, Appellants argued, in part, that the master-in-equity erred in holding the Other Appellants liable for the judgment under veil piercing and alter-ego theories. (**Appellants' Motion to Reconsider Order, p. 3**). Appellants argued this relief was improper because Smith did not seek it in the Complaint. (**Appellants' Motion to Reconsider Order, p. 3**).

On April 25, 2016, the master-in-equity issued a written order, ruling on Appellants' Motion for Reconsideration. (**Post-Trial Order**). In the Post-Trial Order, the master-in-equity agreed she erred in holding the Other Appellants liable for the judgment under veil piercing and alter ego theories. (**Post-Trial Order, p. 5**). Instead, in the Post-Trial Order, the master-in-equity

³ The master-in-equity uses the term "conspiracy" in her Orders, but there is no finding that the Other Appellants engaged in a conspiracy according to the elements of such a cause of action. Furthermore, Smith did not plead a cause of action for conspiracy. See *Vaught v. Waites*, 300 S.C. 201, 208, 387 S.E.2d 91, 95 (Ct. App. 1989) ("Civil conspiracy consists of three elements: (1) a combination of two or more persons, (2) for the purpose of injuring the plaintiff, (3) which causes him special damage.").

held the Other Appellants liable for the judgment against Vereen “under an amalgamation of interest or blurred identity theory.”⁴ (**Post-Trial Order, p. 5**). The effect of the Post-Trial Order is to hold the Other Appellants, consisting of individuals, trusts, and other corporate entities, liable for the judgment against an individual, Vereen.

Appellant received a copy of the Post-Trial Order on April 25, 2016, and Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal within thirty days thereafter, on May 20, 2016. (**Notice of Appeal**).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Smith and Vereen were long-time friends, but going in to business together, made them enemies. (**Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 7**). Smith and Vereen have known each other since 1981. (**Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 7**). Vereen has been involved in the construction business for over forty (40) years, and throughout the years, Smith worked for Vereen on various projects. (**Aug. 2012 Transcript, Vereen pp. 292-93, p. 362**). Smith and Vereen have never been in business together, until the formation of the Company in October 2003. (**Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 7**).

In the early 1990s, Smith experienced personal financial hardship, as his home fell in foreclosure, and he filed for bankruptcy. (**Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 171; Oct. 2011 Transcript, Smith pp. 214-16; Defendants Exhibit #74**). Smith had no place to live, and he turned to Vereen for help. (**Oct. 2011 Transcript, Smith pp. 215-16**). In the words of Smith, Vereen “helped” him. (**Oct. 2011 Transcript, Smith pp. 215-16**). Smith testified Vereen helped him “more than you will ever know! More than you will ever know!” (**Oct. 2011 Transcript, Smith pp. 215-16**) (emphasis in original).

⁴ Respondents neither asserted a cause of action for amalgamation, nor requested such relief in the Complaint. (**Complaint**).

Vereen⁵ sold Smith a lot, located at a subdivision known as 29th Place at Carriage Row, “at cost.” (Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 171; Oct. 2011 Transcript, Smith p. 215; Defendant’s Exhibit #21; Defendants Exhibit #74). Vereen⁶ paid for construction materials in the amount of \$38,795.83, so Smith could build a home on the lot. (Oct. 2011 Transcript, Smith p. 214, p. 226; Defendant’s Exhibit #22). Smith testified he intended to pay Vereen back for the construction materials, and in fact, in a Land Sales Contract, Smith agreed to do so in sixty installment payments of \$322.92. (Oct. 2011 Transcript, Smith p. 212; Defendant’s Exhibit #21). At trial, Smith testified he “couldn’t tell you” whether he paid this money back to Vereen. (Oct. 2011 Transcript, Smith p. 227). According to Vereen’s records, Smith owed approximately \$44,000.00 for these materials at the time of trial. (Oct. 2011 Transcript, Smith p. 236).

Before going in business with Vereen, Smith performed construction work through his own company, EES Construction and Consulting, Inc. (“EES”). (Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 188; Oct. 2011 Transcript, Smith p. 114-17, p. 120). EES performed construction work from 1996 through 2004. (Oct. 2012 Transcript, Smith p. 120). By Smith’s own admission, all of the construction work performed by EES during this period of time was illegal, as EES held no license to perform such work.⁷ (Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 188; Oct. 2011 Transcript, Smith p. 114-17, p. 120).

In 2003, Smith approached Vereen about starting the Company. (Aug. 2012 Transcript, Vereen p. 292). Smith told Vereen he had some projects getting ready to start that he could not

⁵ The lot was owned by 29th Place Developers, Inc., a company Vereen maintained an ownership interest in.

⁶ The materials were owned by AVC, a company Vereen maintained an ownership interest in.

⁷ Section 40-11-200 requires contractors to have a license in order to perform work in South Carolina.

permit.⁸ (**Aug. 2012 Transcript, Vereen p. 292**). Smith also told Vereen that by starting a business together, it would give Smith the opportunity to pay Vereen back the money he owed him. (**Aug. 2012 Transcript, Vereen p. 292**). Smith and Vereen agreed to form the Company.

Smith and Vereen agreed they would each invest \$50,000.00 to start the Company. (**Aug. 2012 Transcript, Vereen pp. 314-15**). Smith and Vereen further agreed they would finish up existing construction jobs in 2003, and the Company would perform any new jobs. (**August 2011 Transcript, Vereen p. 196, pp. 201-04**). Vereen abided by this agreement; Smith did not. (**August 2011 Transcript, Vereen pp. 313-15; August 2011 Transcript, Vereen pp. 292-96**).

Vereen made an initial capital investment of \$50,000.00 in the Company. (**August 2011 Transcript, Vereen p. 219, pp. 313-15**). Smith “never put a penny” in the Company. (**August 2011 Transcript, Vereen p. 314**). After the initial capital investment, the Company never had enough money, and when the Company needed money, Vereen funded it, either through personal funds or from funds of other companies he maintained an interest in. (**August 2011 Transcript, Vereen pp. 313-15; pp. 495-98**).

Smith also failed to bring any jobs to the Company. Instead of bringing jobs to the Company, Smith, in 2004 and 2005, spent most of his time working on jobs for his own construction company, EES. (**Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 183, p. 209; August 2012 Transcript, Vereen p. 69**). Vereen and Smith formed the Company in October 2003 but agreed not to begin operations until January 1, 2004. (**Oct. 2011 Transcript, Smith p. 65; August 2012 Transcript, Vereen p. 203, p. 296**). During this period of time—from formation to operation,

⁸ Vereen had an unlimited B5 construction license. (**Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 165**). In order to obtain this license, the Company must have a worth of \$250,000. (**Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 165**). Because of Smith’s financial hardships, he was unable to do projects of this scope and needed Vereen. (**Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 165**).

Smith and Vereen agreed they would finish up existing construction jobs with their separate construction companies, but any upcoming or new jobs would be performed by the Company. **(August 2012 Transcript, Vereen p. 196, pp. 201-04)**. Smith and Vereen were supposed to “roll” “every job that we had scheduled to work on ... into [the Company].” **(August 2012 Transcript, Vereen p. 295)**. Vereen abided by this agreement, Smith did not. **(August 2012 Transcript, Vereen pp. 292-96)**.

By his own admission, Smith performed jobs for EES for “quite a while” after the Company became operational. **(Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 183)**. Smith, through EES, performed work on a fence project at Grande Dunes in 2004, after the Company became operational.⁹ **(Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith pp. 196-97; Oct. 2011 Transcript, Smith p. 70)**. The contract price for the fence job was \$290,000.00. **(August 2011 Transcript, Vereen pp. 550-53)**. The Company did not receive any money for the fence job. **(August 2011 Transcript, Vereen p. 553; Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith pp. 180-81)**. Smith also performed work on the following construction projects for EES after the Company became operational: Cari Ann Davis’ home, an office up-fit for Robert Sealy, the Perez house, and the Selena Mann house. **(Oct. 2011 Transcript, Smith pp. 70-71; Defendant’s Exhibit #24, #49-51, #53-55)**. The Company did not receive any money for these jobs; instead, EES did. **(Oct. 2011 Transcript, Smith pp. 83-86, pp. 88-93)**.

Smith acknowledges he did not begin working “full time” for the Company until March 2005.¹⁰ **(Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 209)**. Once Smith began working full time for the

⁹ This fence project is sometimes referred to as the Burroughs and Chapin fence at Callaya. **(Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith pp. 196-97)**.

¹⁰ Vereen testified Smith did not come to work every day for the Company until June 2005. **(August 2011 Transcript, Vereen pp. 299-300)**.

Company, he started receiving a salary from the Company, like Vereen. (**Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 210**).

As the two (2) sole shareholders of the Company—with Smith serving as President/Chairman and Vereen as Secretary/Treasurer, both Smith and Vereen maintained full authority to write Company checks; however, because Smith never went to the bank to sign a signature card, Vereen wrote all of the checks. (**August 2011 Transcript, Vereen p. 579; Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 242**). Smith testified he was never denied access to the Company books, financial records, or checking accounts. (**Oct. 2011 Transcript, Smith pp. 242-43; Aug. 2012 Transcript, Vereen p. 276**). In fact, Smith testified he would “quite often” ask Carrie Drewett, the Company bookkeeper, “to run a general ledger of what kind of costs we had on the job and where we stood.” (**Oct. 2011 Transcript, Smith p. 243**). Smith testified that instead of printing the ledgers for him, the Company bookkeeper “would tell [him] what was going on.” (**Oct. 2011 Transcript, Smith p. 243**). Smith accepted this response from the bookkeeper. (**Oct. 2011 Transcript, Smith p. 243**).

In June 2007, Smith approached Vereen, stating “he was due some vacation time and he was going to take a couple weeks off.” (**August 2012 Transcript, Vereen p. 300**). During this conversation, Smith did not reveal his true intentions to Vereen, which were to leave the Company and never return. (**August 2012 Transcript, Vereen p. 300**). Smith left the Company in June 2007, under the guise of a vacation, and never returned to work for the Company again. (**August 2012 Transcript, Vereen pp. 300-01**). The Company continued to pay Smith until Smith sent his first demand letter to Vereen in September or October 2007. (**August 2012 Transcript, Vereen p. 301**).

In June 2007, when Smith approached Vereen about taking a vacation, he knew he was leaving the Company. A couple of months prior—in March 2007—an individual by the name of Martin Brown contacted Smith about performing work on the Condolux¹¹ project. (**Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith pp. 51-52**). After speaking with Brown, Smith, on April 3, 2007, decided to form his own construction company, E. Smith and Sons Construction, LLC (“E. Smith and Sons”). (**Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 165**). Smith did not tell Vereen about the Condolux project or about forming E. Smith and Sons. (**Oct. 2011 Transcript, Smith pp. 123-24; Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 167; August 2011 Transcript, Vereen p. 358**). The Condolux job was a \$1.3 million dollar job. (**Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 158**).

While allegedly on vacation, Smith, without the knowledge or permission of Vereen, pulled construction permits in the name of the Company to perform work on the Condolux project and other projects, including the warehouse on Madison Drive and a deck on South Ocean Boulevard in Windy Hill. (**Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith pp. 156-58; Defendant’s Exhibit #41, #48, #65-72, #74**). Smith did not tell Vereen about these jobs. (**Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 185; August 2011 Transcript, Vereen p. 358**). E. Smith and Sons performed the work on these jobs and received all the money from them. (**Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith pp. 156-58**). Smith was still a shareholder of the Company at this time and was still receiving a salary from the Company. (**Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith pp. 156-58, p. 167; August 2011 Transcript, Vereen p. 301**).

In September or October 2007¹², Smith left a demand letter on Vereen’s desk (“First Demand Letter”). (**August 2012 Transcript, Vereen p. 301; p. 513; Plaintiff’s Exhibit #9: First**

¹¹ The Condolux project is sometimes referred to as the Martin Brown project in the record. (**Feb. 15, 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 156**).

¹² Vereen testified Smith left the First Demand Letter on his desk in September or October 2007. (**August 2012 Transcript, Vereen p. 301**). Smith testified that by mid-September 2007, he had already delivered the First Demand Letter to Vereen. (**Feb. 2010 Transcript, Smith p. 52**).

Demand Letter). In the First Demand Letter, Smith acknowledged Vereen, either personally or through other companies, contributed \$1,186,129.80 to the Company. **(Plaintiff's Exhibit #9: First Demand Letter)**. Smith claimed the Company paid personal expenses on behalf of Vereen in the amount of \$1,586,136.47. **(Plaintiff's Exhibit #9: First Demand Letter)**. Smith demanded that Vereen reconcile the difference and pay the balance of \$400,006.67¹³ to the Company. **(Plaintiff's Exhibit #9: First Demand Letter)**. For his part, Vereen acknowledged that some of the expenses were personal. **(August 2012 Transcript, Vereen p. 516)**.

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