THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Cynthia Graham Howe, Master-in-Equity, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

---

Case No. 2009-CP-26-620  
Appellate Case No. 2016-001075

---

Ellis E. Smith, individually and on behalf of A & E Constructors and Consultants, Inc., a South Carolina Corporation.....Plaintiffs,

v.

Arthur Wayne Vereen, Park Place Properties of Myrtle Beach, LLC, Parkway Offices, LLC, Arthur Vereen Construction, Inc., Linda C. Vereen, Arthur W. Vereen, as Trustee of the Arthur W. Vereen Residence Trust, and Linda C. Vereen, as Trustee of the Linda C. Vereen Residence Trust, .....Defendants

AND

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

---

<sup>12</sup> This is a derivative action, so it's debatable whether the footnote even applies.

checks, built houses for free (and at cost), paid off one another's loans or other expenses, collected checks from one another's customers, and revised each other's existing agreements with third parties.

Equity doesn't allow "an individual businessman [or family] . . . to hide from the normal consequences of carefree entrepreneuring by doing so through the corporate shell." *Multimedia Pub. of South Carolina v. Mullins*, 431 S.E.2d 569, 573, 314 S.C. 551 (1993) (piercing entity's veil where individual transferred over \$100,000 in cash and other assets to his related entities). Far more than "carefree entrepreneuring" was proven. Appellants knew full well that money doesn't grow on trees and companies like A&E don't work for free. *Compare* Ms. Vereen Dep. 22–23 (testifying that she did not work but received a check from Park Place that was "comingled" with Mr. Vereen's check and placed in their joint bank account) *with* Order at 32–33 (disbelieving Ms. Vereen's testimony that she didn't know anything alleged in the Complaint). Because they Appellants ran themselves as one large, intermixed entity, that entire entity—not just Mr. Vereen—must satisfy the judgment to A&E. Requiring A&E to recognize Appellants' distinctiveness when they don't themselves is the sort of fiction that has no place in this State's corporate law.

*Mid-South* doesn't answer the question. As explained by the Supreme Court, "the theory did not apply to the facts of that case because there was no evidence in the record that the corporate entities' identities or interest were blurred or confused with one another." *Pertuis* at 8. For good reason. This Court was presented with a much different case: "appropriate financial records," "no evidence that the [entity] was 'merely a façade'" and no evidence of improper transfers of "money, property, or other assets." 649 S.E.2d 135, 141, 347 S.C. 588 (Ct. App. 2007). The parties were distinct, so imposing liability on one for the another's act would be inequitable—the opposite is true here.

**D. Ms. Vereen is responsible for the judgment under veil-piercing doctrines.**

No matter the outcome of the amalgamation ruling, Ms. Vereen is still jointly-and-severally liable as the President of both entities, the sole owner of Parkway, and the 95% owner of Park Place. South Carolina courts use a two-prong test to determine whether piercing is appropriate, considering (1) eight factors comprising the entity's characteristics; and (2) "an element of injustice or fundamental unfairness if the acts of the corporation be not regarded as the acts of the individuals." *C.T. Lowndes*

*Co. v. Suburban Gas & App. Co., Inc.*, 415 S.E.2d 404, 406, 307 S.C. 394 (Ct. App. 1991).

In this case, there was a total absence of records from any entity justifying the agreements with or amounts taken from A&E, siphoning of A&E's funds to the other entities, use of those same funds to pay Ms. Vereen a salary that was "comingled" with her husband's, and (as the Court found, Order at 33–34) use of those funds to build the Vereens' personal home. *Id.*

"[F]undamental unfairness," which encompasses situations where the "defendant was aware of the plaintiff's claim" is also present here. *Mullins*, 431 S.E.2d at 572. "[A] person is 'aware' of a claim against the corporation . . . if [s]he has notice of facts which, if pursued with due diligence, would lead to knowledge of the claim." *Id.* Here, Ms. Vereen can't claim that she "left the management of [Parkway and Park Place] to others" because that's "the equivalent of urging [her] own negligence and dereliction of duty as a defense." *Id.* Imputed knowledge isn't even required. The Lower Court found she was complicit in the conspiracy and authorized her husband's actions. Order at 22–24. Appellants admitted that Ms. Vereen negotiated the agreement with A&E to perform construction for Parkway on Grissom Parkway. Interrog. Resp. p. 23. That agreement resulted in Parkway's not paying A&E for the construction or even being billed. If Parkway wasn't even being billed for work on that job, due diligence would've required her to at least check why and she would've discovered (if she didn't already know) everything that led to the lawsuit in this first place. Testimony from a company's President that "she had not read the complaint" (*id.* at 38) isn't enough to limit her liability.

**E. Appellants are jointly and severally liable because they conspired to harm A&E.**

The Court found, and A&E alleged, that Appellants engaged in a conspiracy. Order at 33; Compl. ¶¶ 11, 18, 19. Each conspirator is liable for all damages naturally resulting from the acts of the other co-conspirators. *Charles v. Tex. Co.*, 199 S.C. 156, 18 S.E.2d 719, 726 (1942); F. Patrick Hubbard & Robert L. Felix, *The South Carolina Law of Torts*, 436 (4th ed. 2011).

"A civil conspiracy is a combination of two or more parties joined for the purpose of injuring the plaintiff and thereby causing special damage." *Peoples Fed. Savings v. Resources*, 358 S.C. 460, 470 (2004). "Conspiracy may be inferred from the very nature of the acts done, the relationship of the parties, the interests of the alleged conspirators, and other circumstances." *Id.* The Master-in-Equity

had more than enough evidence to support her conspiracy finding: there were only a few individuals running these entities, all of them knew Mr. Vereen's duties to A&E, yet they went ahead and worked to treat A&E's assets as their own.

Appellants recognized the conspiracy issue (Br. 3, n. 3), but dismiss it by claiming that the Master-in-Equity didn't find a conspiracy and that the claim wasn't pleaded. (Appellants don't explain why, though). The Order speaks for itself. The Master-in-Equity found a conspiracy (*see* Order at 8, 11), which is more than supported by her findings showing how each of the Appellants worked together to fleece A&E. *Id.* at 11–14, 18–34. Appellants didn't make any challenge to the Court's conspiracy finding in their Rule 59 motion. They only brought them up at the hearing. If Due Process allows the original motion (it shouldn't), the oral supplement is still untimely and can't be raised now.

There's also no damages problem. The findings below were specific to each transaction, so there's no possibility that anyone is double-paying "damages for the same act." *Peoples Federal Savings*, 358 S.C. at 476 (sustaining verdict where there was no possibility that appellant was "twice subject to payment for damages for the same act."). If Appellants raise a new argument (and if the Court deems it appropriate to do on Reply), this Court should adopt Chief Justice Pleicones' dissent in *Allegro, Inc. v. Scully*, 418 S.C. 24, 791 S.E.2d 140 (2016). Even if this Court disagreed, A&E is still entitled to its expert accounting fees from all Appellants, which are pleaded in the Complaint. *See* Compl. at 12.<sup>13</sup>

## II. THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY'S DECISION TO FIND IN THE COMPANY'S FAVOR IS WELL SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

In their next challenge, Appellants fault Mr. Smith for (among other things) starting his own company, E. Smith and Sons, after discovering they stole millions of dollars from A&E and were writing kickbacks. No matter how it's framed—Appellants use two separate arguments (IV., V.)—the Master-in-Equity's conclusion that Mr. Smith harmed no one is well supported by the evidence.

### A. Appellants can't fault the decision below on grounds they never raised, waived, or haven't challenged in their brief.

First, Appellants failed to plead any affirmative defenses, argue any affirmative defenses, or

---

<sup>13</sup> Separate and apart from this, Appellants haven't challenged the award of the expert's fees, so that ruling is law of the case. *See Fripp*, 396 S.C. at 441.

file a Rule 59(e) with respect to any affirmative defenses, so their unclean-hands argument is not before the Court. *Branche Builders, Inc. v. Coggins*, 686 S.E.2d 200, 202 n.4., 386 S.C. 43 (Ct. App. 2009).

Second, Appellants ask for a new trial because A&E didn't get paid for Mr. Smith's side jobs. But at trial Appellants conceded that "[w]e are not asking Mr. Smith for profit and overhead and payroll for all his side jobs." Oct. 2011 Tr. 607. Accordingly, they've waived the ability to make that argument here or anywhere else. *Bonnette v. State*, 277 S.C. 17, 18, 282 S.E.2d 597, 599 (1981); *Ex parte McMillan*, 319 S.C. 331, 335 (1995) (issue conceded "is procedurally barred.").

Third, the Master-in-Equity held that Appellants failed to show damages to support their assertions. Order at 17–18. On appeal, they say that the Lower Court "fail[ed] to account" for the building Mr. Smith performed after he discovered their fraud. Br. 38–39. A&E had to prove its damages to the Lower Court. Appellants had the same burden. *RFT Mgmt. Co. v. Tinsley & Adams L.L.P.*, 399 S.C. 322, 335, 732 S.E.2d 166, 173 (2012). The Court held that they "produced no evidence of damages sustained by the Company" for the items (a) through (k) in Paragraph 32 of their Counterclaim (Order at 17), which includes the Davis job (a), both Sealey jobs (b, k), and the Condolux job (d). Order at 17; Answer at ¶ 32. Mr. Vereen testified that he "ha[d] no answer" on how much he was claiming for Condolux job and he had "no idea" if Mr. Smith made any money off it. Aug. 2012 Mr. Vereen Tr. 400. They haven't challenged the Master-in-Equity's finding that they didn't meet their burden on appeal, so it's law of the case. *Fripp*, 396 S.C. at 441, 721 S.E.2d at 468.

Finally, and most importantly, Mr. Smith came to Court with clean hands and the Master-in-Equity had more than enough evidence to conclude that he's differently situated than Appellants. Appellants' arguments center on two issues: (1) side jobs, and (2) E. Smith and Sons.

**B. Mr. Smith's side jobs harmed no one.**

Mr. Smith and Mr. Vereen "agreed that each would finish any pre-existing jobs under the names of their own separate companies and at their own separate expense." Order at 3; June 2011 Smith Tr. 12, 13. Appellants list (1) building a fence, (2) working on Ms. Davis' home, (3) working on Mr. Sealy's office; (4) working on Ms. Mann's house; and (5) working on Mr. Perez' home. Br. 36. The fence Appellants complain about was constructed for Burroughs and Chapin by EES under an

August 2003 contract. June 2011 Smith Tr. 180–81, 295. The permits for that fence were also obtained in EES' name (*id.*) and A&E didn't pay a dime for the construction. *Id.* at 11. As for the Davis home and Sealey office, the Court's finding that "the Company license was used with permission of Smith and Vereen, and no monies were paid to the parties and no expense paid by the Company" is supported by the evidence. Order at 17; June 2011 Smith Tr. 197 (Davis home) 198–200, 290 (Sealey office), 201. Ms. Mann's home was permitted in her own name. Oct. 2011 Smith Tr. 120. Mr. Smith helped the Manns select subcontractors to build their house. Oct. 2011 Smith Tr. 121. He didn't take a dime from Ms. Mann, he did her a favor. *Id.* at 120–21. She didn't have the money to pay. *Id.*

The Perez house was never an A&E job, Mr. Perez submitted the building-permit application in his own name before A&E even existed. Defs' Ex. 55; *see also* June 2011 Smith Tr. 181, 195; Oct. 2011 Smith Tr. 96, 118–19. Appellants recognized that when they omitted it from their pleadings and admitted at trial that they were not claiming it "as [a] corporate opportunity." Oct. 2011 Tr. 101. A&E never paid a dime on the Perez construction or any of the other side jobs. Oct. 2011 Smith Tr. 156, 172. Both Mr. Smith and Mr. Vereen were working on non-A&E jobs during the Perez job. *Id.* at 173.

Appellants can't achieve reversal by complaining about jobs, including those done for free, that Mr. Vereen was aware of, that were never A&E's in the first place, and that didn't harm A&E.

**C. Appellants can't fault Mr. Smith for leaving, particularly when they rejected one of the very proposals they complain about on appeal.**

Appellants argue that the Master-in-Equity "completely disregarded" Mr. Smith's time at E. Smith and Sons. Br. 35 (citing Order at 32). The Order speaks for itself; that's simply not true. *See* Order at 17–18. The Master-in-Equity's decision is well supported, but we'd be remiss in failing to step back and look at implications of Appellants' argument. Boiling it down, they're saying that South Carolina equity jurisprudence requires a shareholder in a two-person company to keep working for that company, even though he knows that his fellow shareholder stole millions, lied about it when confronted, paid kickbacks on company-affiliated projects, and showed no sign of slowing down. Equity didn't require Mr. Smith to keep working so Appellants could continue lining their pockets.

The Lower Court found that Mr. Smith was entitled to the fourteen weeks of paid vacation

leave. Order at 18. It believed Mr. Smith's testimony (*see* June 2011 Smith Tr. 52–54) not Mr. Vereen's. For good reason: Mr. Vereen wrote every check out of A&E. A&E paid Mr. Smith during that time. Aug. 2012 Mr. Vereen Tr. 301. Mr. Vereen knew he wasn't at the office. June 2011 Smith Tr. 52. And by at least October 4, 2007, (a date mentioned in Mr. Smith's demand letter, Ex. 9), Mr. Vereen knew that Mr. Smith wouldn't work with him anymore. June 2011 Smith Tr. 53. Why else would he apply to be A&E's qualifying party on October 2, 2007 (formerly only held by Mr. Smith)? Def's Ex. 102.

As for the Condolux project, the Lower Court found that "Vereen previously rejected the construction proposal as not being profitable." Order at 18. Mr. Smith and Mr. Vereen discussed the job and Mr. Vereen didn't want to do it. June 2011 Tr. 50–51. Mr. Smith ensured that E. Smith and Sons maintained insurance and paid for every expense. Oct. 2011 Smith Tr. 195, June 2011 Smith Tr. 156. Mr. Vereen didn't want any part of that job, he can't change that now on appeal.

Appellants didn't plead anything about the two other jobs—Madison Drive and South Ocean Boulevard, so they can't fault the Master-in-Equity for not mentioning them. To put them in perspective, A&E spent more on the Vereens' dry cleaning over the years (\$12,673.69, Ex. 40) than the permitted cost (not profit) of those jobs. Def's Ex. 70 (\$8,800), Ex. 71 (\$1,500). A&E paid nothing on those jobs; it did pay for the laundry. The jobs also occurred in 2008 (Defs' Exs. 70–71), Mr. Vereen knew that the parties had parted ways by then—he had already formed Grand Strand. Appellants recognized as much below, when admitting that they were "not claiming the \$1,500" as a corporate opportunity because it was in April 2008. Oct. 2011 Tr. 201.

Finally, Appellants argue that the judgment is inequitable because Mr. Smith "invested nothing" in A&E. Br. 37. That's not true. Mr. Smith showed up to work every morning at the office, once the jobs started rolling in. June 2011 Smith Tr. 13, 20. That initial \$50,000 contribution didn't give them the right to \$2 million of A&E's assets.

## II. APPELLANTS' FRAUD WARRANTED PUNITIVE DAMAGES.

First, this issue is only preserved as to Mr. Vereen, the other Appellants didn't challenge the punitive-damages below. *See* Mot. to Reconsider at 4; *McMillan*, 319 S.C. at 337 (can't raise issue "for the first time on appeal."). Second, the Constitution is concerned about punitive-damage

multiplication, not division. *E.g., BMW of N. America v. Gore*, 517 U.S. 559, 580–81 (1996). The punitive damages awarded were 4% of the amount Appellants damaged A&E. There’s no excessiveness argument here. Appellants just ask the Court to “reverse/vacate” because the Order didn’t mention *Gore*. Of course, they are holding the Lower Court to something of a double standard—Appellants didn’t mention *Gore* either. *Gore*’s omission was harmless at best. Setting aside the award on this sort of technicality wouldn’t let Appellants off scot free. The issue would just be tried again. We haven’t found a single case saying that reversal is required and the *de novo* standard suggests that form-over-substance approach isn’t correct. *Mitchell, Jr. v. Fortis Ins.*, 686 S.E.2d 176, 183, 385 S.C. 570 (2009).

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